INTRODUCTION 

This appeal is about government bureaucrats running roughshod over clear 

legal requirements and abusing the administrative process to the substantial 

detriment of West Virginia health care providers.  

In this case, Respondent West Virginia Department of Health and Human 

Resources, Bureau for Medical Service (“BMS”) unilaterally and with no meaningful 

explanation indefinitely suspended all Medicaid payments to Petitioner Holistic and 

its providers under a regulation allowing the agency to do so based on a “credible 

allegation of fraud for which an investigation is pending.” These payments are the 

very lifeblood of Holistic (a family-owned business) and its providers, who supply 

vital medical services to West Virginia citizens for treatment for substance use 

disorder. Yet BMS’s duty to suspend payments is not only conditioned on a “credible 

allegation of fraud,” but also on whether “the agency has good cause to not suspend 

payments or to suspend payment only in part.”  

BMS ignored these legal requirements. It not only failed to explain the 

“credible allegation of fraud,”1 BMS critically failed to satisfy the “good cause” 

element as to whether it should “not” suspend payments or to suspend them “only 

in part.” In so doing, BMS also violated its own Manual, which requires tailoring 

 
1 During the course of the administrative process below, Petitioner was 

compelled to file a petition for extraordinary writ against BMS with the Circuit 
Court of Kanawha County, which was later dismissed for procedural reasons. See 
Holistic, Inc. v. W. Va. Dep’t of Health and Human Res., Bureau of Med. Servs., Case 
No. 22-P-184 (Kan. Cnty. Cir. Ct.). Even so, the collateral filing smoked out BMS’s 
purported basis for its suspension more than its administrative process ever did 
(which is to say, not at all). 
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the payment suspension to the extent of the alleged fraud. Instead of the required 

scalpel, BMS clumsily used a hammer. Demonstrating BMS’s disconnect from the 

law and the record, the agency wrongly suspended Medicaid payments to Holistic 

for all its Medicaid claims and for the “entirety” of the organization—at this point 

well over a million dollars—based only on concerns with four-year old paper charts 

for eight patients. D.R. 18 (emphasis added). Thus, even if the suspending of some 

payments is satisfied, there is no support in the facts or the law for the agency’s 

draconian suspension of all payments on an indefinite basis. Federal regulation and 

constitutional due process require far more.  

For these reasons and those that follow, this Court should reverse the BMS 

decision for failure to conduct, much less satisfy, the “good cause” standard not to 

suspend payments. Alternatively, this Court should vacate the BMS decision and 

remand with directions to the agency to modify the decision to suspend payments 

“only in part” consistent with law and its own Manual. 

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. A court shall reverse, vacate or modify an agency decision if the 
substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the 
decision is (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or 
(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or 
(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error of 
law, or (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and 
substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) Arbitrary or capricious 
or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise 
of discretion.  
 
Federal regulation 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 mandates that a state Medicaid 
agency evaluate the existence of good cause not to suspend, or to 
suspend in part, Medicaid payments where there is a credible 
allegation of fraud for which an investigation is pending. Here, BMS 
failed entirely to even consider the “good cause” factors required by 42 
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C.F.R.  455.23(a)(1), particularly in light of the record demonstrating 
that nearly all factors are satisfied. Was BMS’s unexplained decision to 
suspend Petitioner’s Medicaid payments in their entirety without 
regard to the required “good cause” analysis contrary to law and 
otherwise arbitrary and capricious? 

 
2. A court shall reverse, vacate or modify an agency decision if the 

substantial rights of the petitioner have been prejudiced because the 
decision is (1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or 
(2) In excess of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or 
(3) Made upon unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error of 
law, or (5) Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and 
substantial evidence on the whole record; or (6) Arbitrary or capricious 
or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise 
of discretion.  
 
Federal regulation 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(b)(2)(ii) requires a state 
Medicaid agency to give sufficient notice of the allegations of the 
alleged fraud to the suspended party so that it may be contested. 
Moreover, constitutional due process requires the agency to provide 
substantive information about the purported fraud on which the 
suspension was based. Here, however, when Holistic sought 
clarification on the nature of the allegations against it that were 
identified as the basis of the indefinite and total suspension of its 
Medicaid payments, BMS only provided a conclusory assertion that the 
pending investigation “concerns allegations of knowingly billing 
services never rendered.” Was BMS’s barebones statement of alleged 
fraud sufficient to satisfy § 455.23(b)(2)(ii) and constitutional due 
process requirements before depriving Petitioner of all of its Medicaid 
payments on an indefinite basis? 

 
STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Petitioner Holistic, Inc. provides comprehensive services to its patients, 

including primary care, addiction treatment, and counseling. D.R. at 2.2 In addition 

to providing family practice services, Holistic provides medically assisted treatment 

for substance use disorder to over 350 patients from two offices located in St. Albans 

and Charleston, West Virginia. Id. Many of Holistic’s patients receive and rely on 

 
2 References to “D.R.” are to the designated record lodged in this appeal. 
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Medicaid benefits to pay for the necessary medical treatment that they receive. Id. 

To that end, the decision to suspend Medicaid payments can have a devastating 

effect upon the economic viability of healthcare practices or individual practitioners, 

even if the suspension is ultimately lifted. Id. This is especially true in West 

Virginia where so many low-income patients receive insurance through this 

program and the bulk of many practices often includes patients on Medicaid. Id. 

Because of this potential drastic effect, it is therefore critical that the State, 

in making a decision to suspend a provider’s access to Medicaid reimbursement, do 

so only upon a thorough consideration of whether good cause exists to stay a 

decision to suspend and to only suspend when adequate and specific pre-suspension 

notice has been given to providers. D.R. 108–111. To allow otherwise could result in 

further reducing the number of available providers in the state, thereby eliminating 

access to much needed care for vulnerable West Virginians. Id. 

On May 2, 2022, BMS, then a division of DHHR, notified Holistic that it 

intended to suspend Medicaid payments to Holistic in their entirety on May 16, 

2022. D.R. 18–19. The suspension applied to all of Holistic’s Medicaid claims and to 

the entirety of the organization. D.R. at 3, 18. BMS stated that the suspension was 

due to an ongoing investigation by the West Virginia Medicaid Fraud Unit but 

wholly failed to explain any specific findings of wrongdoing on behalf of Holistic. Id. 

Six current and former providers from Holistic also received identical letters from 
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BMS (collectively, the “Individual Providers”), who are petitioners in a related 

appeal. D.R. at 27.3 

Holistic immediately notified BMS of their intention to contest the 

suspension, requested a hearing, and demanded that BMS provide notice of its 

specific findings of against Holistic. D.R. at 20; D.R. at 27-28. BMS’s notice provided 

no substance as to a finding of a credible allegation of fraud that would have even 

permitted Holistic to be able to respond or challenge. D.R. 18-19. Likewise, the 

notice failed to include general allegations as to the nature of the suspension action, 

as required by federal law and precedent. D.R. at 28; see also 42 C.F.R. § 

455.23(b)(2). Because of BMS’s insufficient notice, Holistic was unable to provide 

BMS with any explanation of specific billing patterns or practices that were 

allegedly problematic and the supposed basis for the draconian suspension. D.R. at 

28. BMS also neglected to consider the “good cause” factors outlined in 42 C.F.R. § 

455.23 prior to suspending Medicaid payments to Holistic. D.R. 28-29. 

On May 16, 2022, BMS issued a second letter to Holistic that was nearly 

identical to the first but extended the suspension deadline to May 23, 2022. D.R. 25-

26. Neither letter contained adequate or specific details about the allegation of 

 
3 Five past and/or present employees are also subject to the BMS decision and 

are petitioners in a related appeal before the ICA raising substantially identical 
arguments and seeking substantially similar relief, based on the same 
administrative record. See Samantha Burgess, et al. v. W. Va. Dep’t of Health and 
Human Res., Bureau of Med. Servs., Case No. 23-ICA-11. Petitioner anticipates 
moving to consolidate the cases for argument and decision. And for that same 
reason, Petitioner in this appeal also incorporates by reference the arguments 
raised by Petitioners in the Burgess case to ensure the cases can be efficiently 
considered and resolved by this Court. 
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wrongdoing against Holistic so that they could prepare a meaningful defense. D.R. 

25-31. After extending the suspension deadlines, BMS ultimately issued an 

expedited Desk Review Decision on August 12, upholding the suspension of 

Medicaid payments by the Individual Providers and Holistic. D.R. 212-214. Holistic 

and the Individual Providers then requested an evidentiary hearing before the 

Commissioner of the Bureau of Medical Services, which was held on August 19. 

D.R. 217-219.  

At the evidentiary hearing, Holistic and the Individual Providers requested 

that BMS reverse its pay-hold assessed across the entirety of Medicaid claims filed 

by Holistic and the Individual Providers due, in part, to BMS’s failure to comply 

with its own policies, conduct the required good cause analysis, or provide sufficient 

notice to Holistic regarding the existence of any credible allegation(s) of fraud. D.R. 

248-249. Remarkably, after Commissioner designee Brewer concluded that the 

factual, evidentiary record was closed, BMS submitted an untimely, post-hearing 

Affidavit of Andrew Pack, the Director of Program Integrity. D.R. 224-225. The 

tardy Affidavit purported to address the good cause exception factors—which, again, 

came long after the suspension had been made. Id.  

On September 7, Mr. Brewer issued the Hearing Examiner’s Recommended 

Decision, recommending the denial of Holistic’s and the Individual Providers’ 

requests to rescind or suspend the current suspension of all Medicaid payments, 

pending completion of an investigation. D.R. 265-285. The recommended decision 

stated that BMS’s determination of a credible allegation of fraud was made in good 
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faith. D.R. at 283. To that end, the Hearing Examiner found that Holistic and the 

Individual Providers failed to demonstrate that BMS’s determination to completely 

suspend Medicaid payments resulted from arbitrary and capricious decision-

making. Id. 

By letter dated December 7, 2022, BMS formally accepted, without 

modification, Mr. Brewer’s recommended decision. D.R. at 307. The letter was not 

delivered to Holistic’s counsel until over a month later. This appeal followed.  

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The decision below is legally flawed in numerous respects. Assuming this 

Court has appellate jurisdiction to review the order, it should be reversed.  

First, BMS acted unlawfully by suspending Petitioner’s Medicaid payments 

without considering the existence of good cause not to suspend, or to suspend in 

part, such payments. Here, BMS failed entirely to even consider the “good cause” 

factors required by 42 C.F.R.  455.23(a)(1), particularly in light of the record 

demonstrating that nearly all factors are satisfied. Therefore, BMS’s decision to 

suspend Petitioner’s Medicaid payments in their entirety without regard to the 

required “good cause” analysis was contrary to law and otherwise arbitrary and 

capricious. D.R. 18. 

Second, BMS violated 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(b)(2)(ii), which requires a state 

Medicaid agency to give sufficient notice of the allegations of the alleged fraud to 

the suspended party so that it may be contested. Moreover, the agency violated 

constitutional due process, which required BMS to provide substantive information 

about the purported fraud on which the suspension was based. Here, however, when 
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Holistic sought clarification on the nature of the allegations against it that were 

identified as the basis of the indefinite and total suspension of its Medicaid 

payments, BMS only provided a conclusory assertion that the pending investigation 

“concerns allegations of knowingly billing services never rendered.” Therefore, 

BMS’s unexplained statement of alleged fraud was insufficient to satisfy § 

455.23(b)(2)(ii) and constitutional due process requirements before depriving 

Petitioner of all of its Medicaid payments on an indefinite basis. 

Accordingly, this Court should reverse the BMS decision for failure to satisfy 

the “good cause” standard not to suspend payments and to even explain with any 

meaningful respect the “credible allegations of fraud” in the first place necessary to 

satisfy regulatory requirements and constitutional due process. Alternatively, this 

Court should vacate the BMS decision and remand with directions to the agency to 

modify the decision to suspend payments “only in part” narrowly tailored to the 

specific allegations of fraud subject to the ongoing investigation. 

STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT 

This appeal is suitable for Rule 20 argument because it involves legal issues 

of first impression in this Court (the application of 42 C.F.R. § 455.23) and issues 

fundamental public importance (the public need for drug abuse treatment providers 

and constitutional due process). 

ARGUMENT 

I. This Court may lack appellate jurisdiction. 

In all candor to the tribunal, it is debatable whether the Intermediate Court 

of Appeals has appellate jurisdiction to review the BMS’s decision in this case, 
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which Petitioner has appealed to this Court out of an abundance of caution to 

protect its appellate rights. 

West Virginia Code § 51-11-4(b)(4) provides that the ICA has appellate 

jurisdiction over, among other things, “decisions of an agency or an administrative 

law judge entered after June 30, 2022, heretofore appealable to the Circuit Court of 

Kanawha County pursuant to § 29A-5-4 or any other provision of this code.” 

(emphasis added). Here, the question is whether the BMS decision was (prior to the 

ICA) previously appealable under the West Virginia Administrative Procedures Act 

(Chapter 29A) (“WVAPA”) or any other provision of law. In Petitioner’s view, the 

ICA may lack appellate jurisdiction because the BMS decision arguably falls under 

an express statutory exclusion from the WVAPA as a “contested case[] involving . . . 

the receipt of public assistance.” W. Va. Code § 29A-1-3(c). 

The Supreme Court has long interpreted this statutory exclusion broadly, 

including to challenges to DHHR decisions that suspended the ability of providers 

to receive direct payments of public funds given to them as providers of products or 

services “to people eligible for welfare benefits.” State ex rel. Ginsberg v. Watt, 168 

W. Va. 503, 505, 285 S.E.2d 367, 369 (1981); see also id. (“[DHHR] is not subject to 

the Administrative Procedures Act. . . . Certiorari is the proper means for obtaining 

judicial review of a decision made by a state agency not covered by the 

Administrative Procedures Act.”); see Syl. Pt. 2, Bills v. Hardy, 228 W. Va. 341, 342, 

719 S.E.2d 811, 812 (2011) (“Under West Virginia Code § 29A-1-3(c) (2007), the 

Administrative Procedures Act does not apply to contested cases involving the 
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receipt of public assistance.”). For example, the Supreme Court approved of a party 

challenging the DHHR’s denial of its application for participation in a Medicaid 

waiver program through a writ of certiorari filed in circuit court. See Wysong ex rel. 

Ramsey v. Walker, 224 W. Va. 437, 441 & n.2, 686 S.E.2d 219, 223 & n.2 (2009).  

The grant of appellate jurisdiction to the ICA did not change the exclusion in 

Chapter 29A; it simply incorporated it. Perhaps the Legislature should repeal the 

exclusion for “public assistance” decisions, W. Va. Code § 29A-1-3(c), but until it 

does, certiorari to Kanawha County Circuit Court is arguably the only available 

path for appeal. 

Under binding precedent, therefore, the BMS decision in this case arguably 

“involve[es]. . . the receipt of public assistance,” and therefore may fall beyond the 

bounds of the judicial review process set forth in the WVAPA. If so, the ICA does not 

have appellate jurisdiction under W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(4) to hear the appeal 

directly from the agency. Instead, under precedent, the decision would only be 

reviewable via petition for writ of certiorari in Kanawha County Circuit Court, 

where petitioner resides, or where the cause of action arose. See W. Va. § 14-2-2(a). 

For this reason, and to avoid any loss of its appellate rights, Petitioner will be 

making a concurrent filing of a petition for writ of certiorari to challenge the 

agency’s decision here in Circuit Court (and then would appeal the final order from 

the Circuit Court to the ICA, if need be). 
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II. The standard of review. 

Assuming this Court concludes that it has appellate jurisdiction over the 

decision as a “contested case” under Chapter 29A, see W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(4), 

the standard of review is as follows: 

Upon judicial review of a contested case under the West Virginia 
Administrative Procedure Act, Chapter 29A, Article 5, Section 4(g), the 
[ICA] may affirm the order or decision of the agency or remand the 
case for further proceedings. The [ICA] shall reverse, vacate or modify 
the order or decision of the agency if the substantial rights of the 
petitioner or petitioners have been prejudiced because the 
administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, decisions or order are: 
(1) In violation of constitutional or statutory provisions; or (2) In excess 
of the statutory authority or jurisdiction of the agency; or (3) Made 
upon unlawful procedures; or (4) Affected by other error of law, or (5) 
Clearly wrong in view of the reliable, probative and substantial 
evidence on the whole record; or (6) Arbitrary or capricious or 
characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of 
discretion. 

Syl. Pt. 1, Amedisys W. Virginia, LLC v. Pers. Touch Home Care of W.Va., Inc., 245 

W. Va. 398, 859 S.E.2d 341, 344 (2021) (quotation marks and citations omitted). 

III. The BMS decision should be reversed. 

The substantial rights of Petitioner Holistic have been significantly 

prejudiced by the BMS decision in numerous respects, any one of which is grounds 

for reversal, vacatur, or modification of the decision. See Syl. Pt. 1, Amedisys W. 

Virginia, LLC v. Pers. Touch Home Care of W.Va., Inc., 245 W. Va. 398, 859 S.E.2d 

341, 344 (2021). The BMS decision was made in violation of constitutional and 

regulatory provisions and upon unlawful procedures; is affected by error of law and 

clearly wrong in light of the record as a whole; and is otherwise arbitrary and 

capricious and characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise 
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of discretion. See id. The decision should be reversed, or at least vacated and 

remanded to require the agency to do its job as the law requires. 

A. The legal background. 

Federal regulations require a state’s Medicaid agency, like BMS, to suspend 

Medicaid payments to providers where the agency determines that a “credible 

allegation of fraud for which an investigation is pending” exists. 42 U.S.C. § 

455.23(a)(1).  

However, this mandate comes with a very important caveat: the agency is 

required to suspend payments “unless the agency has good cause to not suspend 

payments or to suspend payment only in part.” Id. (emphasis added). Properly read, 

the regulation holds that an agency seeking to suspend a provider’s Medicaid 

payments must first consider whether good cause exists before implementing the 

suspension. See Victoria Transcultural Clinical Center, VTCC v. Kimsey, 477 F. 

Supp. 3d 457, 464 (E.D. Va. 2020) (“Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 455.23, where, as here, 

there is a credible allegation of fraud, [the state Medicaid agency] is required to 

suspend Medicaid payments, unless one of the regulatory good cause exceptions is 

found to exist.” (emphasis added). Put differently, while the decision of whether a 

good cause exception justifies a decision not to suspend payments might be 

discretionary, the actual performance of the evaluation of whether good cause exists 

is mandatory. Indeed, the BMS Provider Manual states, “OPI will determine if good 

cause exception exists to not suspend payment.” BMS Manual § 800.9 (emphasis 

added). 
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The same regulation also provides six specific favors that the agency must 

consider whether good cause not to suspend exists in a given case, even if the 

agency’ is entitled to exercise discretion in actually applying the factors. They are 

set forth as follows:

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