IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

HOLISTIC, INC.,

ICA EFiled: May 24 2023 01:05PM EDT

Transaction ID 70077267

PETITIONERS BELOW, PETITIONERS,

V.

CASE NO. 23-ICA-39

ON APPEAL FROM THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT

OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES,

BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

RESPONDENT BELOW, RESPONDENT.

RESPONSE BRIEF ON BEHALF OF THE WEST VIRGINIA DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND HUMAN RESOURCES, BUREAU FOR MEDICAL SERVICES

PATRICK MORRISEY ATTORNEY GENERAL

BRENT WOLFINGBARGER SENIOR DEPUTY ATTORNEY GENERAL 1900 Kanawha Boulevard, East Building 1, Room E-26 Charleston, WV 25305

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

("Pursuant to the arbitrary and capricious standard, a ... court reviewing the factual findings of an administrative agency must 'not substitute its judgment for that of the hearing examiner.").

Therefore, the decision of the Hearing Examiner should not be disturbed on appeal.

III. BMS did not act arbitrarily or capriciously by suspending Medicaid Payments and the suspension is not an indefinite suspension.

Counsel for the Petitioners argues that the suspension of Medicaid payments is an indefinite suspension. However, that is simply not the case. 42 CFR § 455.23(d) (emphasis added). **expressly indicates** that if the MFCU accepts the fraud referral for investigation, the payment suspension is allowed to continue "until such time as the investigation *and any associated enforcement proceedings* are completed." 42 CFR §455.23(d)(3)(i) (emphasis added); *see also* 42 CFR §455.23(c)(1)(ii). However, if the MFCU declines to investigate the fraud referral from BMS, then the suspension of payments must end. 42 CFR §455.23(d)(4). There is no dispute that Holistic and the Individual Providers are currently being investigated by the West Virginia Medicaid Fraud Control Unit ("MFCU") for fraud and that the investigation is still ongoing.

Although *Pressley Ridge Schools, Inc. v. Stottlemeyer*, 947 F. Supp. 929 (S.D. W.Va. 1996), is cited by the Petitioners it simply does not apply to the current case. In *Pressley Ridge*, the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of West Virginia found that BMS had violated an older version of 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 by using the prepayment and postpayment provisions in 42 CFR § 447.45(f) to suspend payments to the provider indefinitely. The Court also held that BMS violated 42 U.S.C. § 1396(a)(37)(B) and Section 764.1 of its own Medicaid Regulations when it refused to grant Pressley Ridge an administrative hearing that Pressley Ridge had requested on the "Bureau's decision to impose prepayment review of Pressley Ridge's Behavioral Management Services claims and to pend payments indefinitely for those services represented by the claims." *Id.*, at 939. Moreover, the Court held that BMS violated 42 U.S.C. §1396(a)(30) by retroactively

applying a prepayment review process to Pressley Ridge's claims that materially differed from the process that was spelled out in the BMS manual.

The language set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 has been substantially amended during the 27 years since the *Pressley Ridge* case was decided. Most importantly, the language contained in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(a) that was cited in the *Pressley Ridge* case indicated that BMS State Medicaid agencies "**may** withhold Medicaid payments, in whole or in part, to a provider upon receipt of reliable evidence that the circumstances giving rise to the need for a withholding of payments involve fraud or willful misrepresentation under the Medicaid program." Based on the use of the word "may" in the older version of the regulation, BMS was vested in 1996 with the *discretion* to withhold payments or not withhold payments to providers even if it was in receipt of "reliable evidence" that "fraud or willful misrepresentation" was involved.

By comparison, the language currently set forth in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(a) clearly demonstrates that BMS had a mandatory legal **obligation** to suspend payments to Holistic and the Individual Providers after it determined that there was "a credible allegation of fraud" against them. This regulatory change was promulgated by the HHS Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") on February 2, 2011,² as part of its implementation of the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act (Public Law 111-148) ("ACA"), which Congress had passed in March 2010. As the OIG noted in announcing its Final Rule, "We proposed to implement section 6402(h)(2) of the ACA by modifying the existing § 455.23(a) **to make payment suspensions mandatory** where an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud under the Medicaid program exists."³

¹ Pressley Ridge, at 940, quoting 42 C.F.R. §455.23 (emphasis added).

² Medicare, Medicaid, and Children's Health Insurance Programs; Additional Screening Requirements, Application Fees, Temporary Enrollment Moratoria, Payment Suspensions and Compliance Plans for Providers and Suppliers, 76 FR 5862-01 (February 2, 2011).

³ *Id.*, at 5932.

Although the language currently found in 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(e) vests BMS with the **discretion** not to suspend such payments to providers if it determines that "good cause" exists not to do so, as noted above, the agency has no legal obligation to do so. And as the OIG noted in its Final Rule in discussing this subsection of the amended regulation: "Consistent with the new ACA provision, we also proposed to create several "good cause" exceptions by which States **may** determine good cause exists not to suspend payments or to suspend payments only in part." In short, even if "good cause" not to suspend payments to Holistic and the Individual Providers arguably existed in the case at bar despite the existence of an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud, BMS was vested with the discretion to suspend the payments anyway.

In the case at bar, the suspension is not an indefinite one and has only continued because the MFCU investigation is still ongoing. It also must be noted that, unlike what transpired in the *Pressley Ridge* case, BMS did not refuse to grant the Petitioners an administrative hearing. As stated in the Final Order from Judge Bloom, BMS voluntarily agreed to fast track the administrative review process and to conduct an administrative hearing in early August 2022. (D.R. 207-208). The first step of the administrative review process is a document desk review ("DDR") which was conducted by BMS on August 12, 2022. (D.R. 212-214) The Petitioners disagreed with the DDR decision and requested an administrative hearing which was conducted on August 18, 2022. (D.R. 265)

Therefore, BMS has complied with all the requirements of 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 in suspending the Medicaid payments to the Petitioner.

-

⁴ *Id.*, at 5933.

IV. BMS did not act arbitrarily or capriciously and provided Petitioners with the required detail of the allegations that led to the suspension of Medicaid Payments.

42 C.F.R. § 455.23 only requires BMS to "set forth the *general allegations* as to the nature of the suspension action," and expressly <u>does not</u> require BMS to disclose "any specific information concerning an ongoing investigation." 42 CFR §455.23(b)(2)(ii) (emphasis added). This provision is consistent with the MFCU's concurrent duty to protect the privacy rights of individuals who provide the Unit with sensitive information related to its investigations that is established both in the federal regulations and the West Virginia Code. *See* 42 C.F.R. §1007.11(f) and W.Va. Code §9-7-3(d).

Petitioners insist that BMS should have provided them more information, but the Court of Appeals of Mississippi has explained well why more substantial information is not required to be disclosed in a case like this one. In *NSCH Rural Health Clinic v. Snyder*, 321 So. 3d 565, 571–72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2020), that court held that:

"the fraud allegations were referred to the Medicaid fraud unit at the Mississippi Attorney General's Office. Further, there is no authority within the relevant federal or state regulations that requires the ((Mississippi Division of Medicaid (DOM)) to provide an administrative hearing concerning the sufficiency of the initial allegations of fraud or to disclose any specific information regarding the fraud allegations under investigation. Pursuant to 42 C.F.R. § 455.23(b)(2), the DOM was required to give North Sunflower notice of the suspension to include only general allegations but not to disclose any specific allegations concerning the ongoing investigation. The regulation's obvious goal was to protect the integrity and confidentiality of an ongoing criminal investigation. To hold otherwise could potentially undermine the ongoing criminal investigation being conducted by the Attorney General's Office. Pursuant to both federal and state regulations, the DOM referred the allegations of fraud to the MFCU, gave North Sunflower the appropriate notice, and suspended reimbursements pending the outcome of that investigation. North Sunflower's assertion that the DOM's actual decision to refer the allegations of fraud was subject to judicial review is without merit. Given the fact that both federal and state regulations mandated the DOM's referral of the allegations to the MFCU, its actions in that regard were certainly within the

parameters set forth in the law." *NSCH Rural Health Clinic v. Snyder*, 321 So. 3d 565, 571–72 (Miss. Ct. App. 2020)(emphasis added).

The facts in *NSCH* are very similar to the instant case in that both cases started with fraud allegations being referred to MFCU and ultimately ended with Medicaid payments to the provider being stopped while the fraud investigation was ongoing. However, BMS went a step further than the DOM took in *NSCH* by providing the Petitioners with detailed information contained in the Report of Investigation Case Summary prepared by Investigator Young, as noted by the Hearing Examiner on page 17 of his recommended decision. (D.R. 281) *See also Consumer Directed Choices, Inc. v. N.Y. State Off. of Medicaid Inspector Gen.*, 90 A.D.3d 1271, 1272, 935 N.Y.S.2d 352, 353 (2011) (holding that a suspension notice contained "a proper description of the reason for the withholding" where the notice merely informed the entity that it was under investigation for claims that resulted in a substantial overpayment).

Petitioners think this case is a repeat of Alexandre v. Ill. Dept. of Healthcare & Family Services, No. 20 C 6745, 2021 WL 4206792, (N.D. Ill. Sept. 15, 2021), but that case is distinguishable. There, the Illinois' Medicaid agency ("HFS") suspended Dr. Alexendre Medicaid payments for approximately three years pending an investigation for fraud. Id at 1. The court held that HFS had violated Dr. Alexandre's due process rights by suspending her payments "without providing any substantive information about the purported 'billing irregularities' on which the suspension [was] based." Id. at 10. It appears that the only information HFS provided to Dr. Alexandre was a notification that billing irregularities had been detected in her practice. Id. at 1. Dr. Alexandre filed suit against HFS in regards to the lack of information concerning the allegations, and HFS responded with a short email stating that "the investigation remains actively ongoing and pertains to a variety of fraud allegations, including allegations of receiving kickbacks and administering expired vaccines." Id at 1-2.

In the case at bar, BMS provided the Petitioners with a Report of Investigation Case Summary ("Investigation Report") prepared by Investigator Audrey Young and the Medicaid Fraud Referral Form. (D.R. 97-103). The Investigation Report reviews eight medical records with eight hundred and sixty two dates of service with the data "showing a consistent trend of billing patients a drug screen test (80307, alcohol breath screen test (82075), E&M (99213, 99214), preventative medicine counseling, (99401, 99402) and tobacco cessation counseling (99406, 99407." (D.R. 97) Investigator Young noted that the above referenced billing codes were repeated weekly for the eight patients and that there appeared to be a high trend of high daily volume for time-based codes and potential for impossible day billing. (D.R. 97) The Investigation Report also noted that there were occasions where a female patient who had previously undergone a hysterectomy had pregnancy test performed and another patient that was tested for pregnancy weekly. (D.R. 98) Investigator Young reached the conclusion that "a review of the eight, (8) individual spreadsheets will show occasions where there were two, (2) E&M codes billed on the same date of service for the same patient by two, (2) different provider, Dr. Bacha and Mr. Blankenship." (D.R. 98) Lastly, Investigator Young found that "there will also be numerous dates of services for counseling services where there is no documentation at all, no date documented, no time documented, no topic of counseling documented, and no signature of who provided the counseling....On many occasion, the documentation provided by Mr. Blankenship did not support the claims that Holistic billed." (D.R. 98-99) Thus, unlike the agency in Alexandre, BMS has provided detailed information regarding the billing irregularities and allegations of fraud. While this information was provided after the May 16, 2022, informing the Petitioners that payments would be suspended effective May 23, 2022 it was provided to the Petitioners as an exhibit to BMS' Response in Opposition to the Verified Petition For Writ Of Prohibition that was filed on

June 10, 2022, well before the document desk review and evidentiary hearing took place. (D.R. 97-103). Petitioners' argument that BMS Manual § 800.11 requirements that the Petitioner submit a "statement as to the specific findings in dispute and the bases for the provider's contention that the specific findings were incorrect" require BMS to provide specific information regarding the credible allegations of fraud is incorrect. If BMS were required to provide specific information regarding the credible allegations of fraud all investigations of MCFU would be undermined by divulging sensitive information that is still being investigated. This point was outlined in *NSCH Rural Health Clinic*.

As the Hearing Examiner correctly stated in his recommended decision, BMS' determination "that there has been a credible allegation of fraud must be made in good faith, and nor arbitrarily and capriciously." (D.R. 280).

Again, BMS provided the Petitioners with detailed information from Investigator Young and the Hearing Examiner correctly found that Director Andrew Pack's determination that there was a credible allegation of fraud was not arbitrary or capricious in any regard. (D.R. 281) The Hearing Examiner also found that "it is permissible to base an allegation on data analysis that reveals aberrant billing practices that appear unjustifiable based upon normal business practices" (D.R. 281). Further, as noted by the Hearing Examiner, "nothing in federal law extends a property right in Medicaid reimbursements to a provider that is the subject of a fraud investigation." *quoting Personal Care Products, Inc. v. Hawkins*, 635 F.3d 155, 159 (5th Cir. 2011); *See also ABA, Inc. v. Dist. Of Columbia*, 40 F. Supp 3d 153, 167 (D.D.C. 2014). 42 C.F.R. § 455.23 gives BMS sole discretion to decide if Medicaid payments may continue while an investigation of a credible allegation of fraud is ongoing.

At bottom, Petitioners vehemently disagree with the allegations against them. So be it.

But BMS is not required at this early stage to prove all the facts that might ultimately support the

allegations against Petitioners; the idea that Petitioners should receive "particularized" allegations,

for example, is not supported by one bit of cited authority. It is enough that Petitioners be informed

of the sort of "general" information upon which the allegations rest. Questions like those

Petitioners press here can be answered during the course of the investigation and, if necessary, at

the time of any appropriate trial. The only question here is whether Petitioners have received the

minimal notice required to institute this preliminary suspension process.

Therefore, the Hearing Examiner's recommended decision should not be disturbed on

appeal.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth herein, Respondent prays that this Honorable Court will deny the

Petition for Appeal and prays for such further relief as this Honorable Court deems fit and proper.